STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-212800
Circuit Court Case No. 2006-GS-26-2998

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

LARRY CHESNUT,

APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JEREMY A. THOMPSON
Attorney and Counselor at Law

Law Office of Jeremy A. Thompson, LLC
P.O. Box 12891
Columbia, SC 29211
803-779-2555
803-779-2556 FAX
jeremyatlaw@yahoo.com

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT.

RECEIVED

FEB 03 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM Horry COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Whether subsequent developments in the law have so undermined the foundation of State v. Huckie, 22 S.C. 298 (1885)—establishing the order of closing argument in joint trials—such that Huckie should be overruled to permit co-defendants who do not introduce evidence in a joint trial the right to the last argument even if another co-defendant does introduce evidence?

II.

Whether the trial court's denial of the Appellant's motion to permit the Appellant's co-defendant to make the final closing argument to the jury if the Appellant presented evidence violated the Appellant's Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment constitutional rights to present a defense and to testify in his own defense?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2006, the Horry County Grand Jury indicted the Appellant for murder. On August 13-17, 2012, the Appellant proceeded to a joint trial with his co-defendant Kendrick Chestnut. At the conclusion of the trial, the jury convicted the Appellant of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter and acquitted his co-defendant of all charges. The Honorable Steven H. John, presiding circuit judge, sentenced the Appellant to twenty years' imprisonment. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

May 20, 2006, was the Appellant's twenty-eighth birthday. That afternoon, the Appellant's pregnant girlfriend, Christie Hucks ("Christie"), threw a party for the Appellant at the apartment complex where they lived. Following the party, the Appellant went out to further celebrate with his co-defendant Kendrick Chestnut ("Kendrick") and Christie's brother, the decedent, Joseph "Joey" Hucks. While the Appellant was gone, Christie opened a birthday card from the Appellant's daughter's mother which stated that she loved the Appellant. Upset at the card, Christie called her sister, Cynthia "Cindy" Evans ("Cindy"), who went to the apartment with her boyfriend Richard Day ("Day"). When the Appellant arrived home with Kendrick and the decedent in the early morning hours of May 21, 2006, Day, Cindy, and Christie were all present in the apartment. ROA p. 194, line 15-p. 201, line 2 (Tr. p. 335, line 15-p. 342, line 2). Day, Cindy, and Christie each gave extremely different versions of the subsequent events.

Day testified that after the Appellant arrived home, the Appellant and Christie walked to the kitchen when Day heard the Appellant yell that he had lost \$400.00. Day then witnessed the Appellant push Christie up against a wall with both hands around her neck. Day testified that "[w]e all tr[ie]d to stop him" by intervening and that the Appellant punched the decedent, who fell to the ground. The Appellant went back into the kitchen where he was followed by Cindy, but Kendrick attempted to prevent Day from following as well. Day then got around Kendrick and witnessed the Appellant on the ground biting Cindy's leg. Day pushed the Appellant up against the counter, but the fighting did not stop. Day then could no longer see Cindy, so he ran back through the kitchen and the living room to exit the home through the front door to try to find her. The decedent, Christie, and the Appellant were left in the kitchen when Day left the apartment. Day subsequently returned to the apartment after unsuccessfully looking for Cindy

and saw the decedent staggering out of the home with at least one visible stab wound. The Appellant and Kendrick then attacked the decedent, knocking him to the ground, and began kicking him. Day observed the Appellant making a stabbing motion, but he did not see the Appellant with a weapon. In Day's first statement to the police, he did not state that he observed the decedent being stabbed. ROA p. 55, line 16-p. 66, line 2; p. 71, line 13-p. 72, line 20 (Tr. p. 196, line 16-p. 207, line 2; p. 212, line 23-p. 213, line 20).

Cindy testified that the Appellant and Christie went to the kitchen after the Appellant arrived at the apartment. The Appellant and Christie then got into a verbal argument, which prompted Cindy and the decedent to enter the kitchen to calm the situation down. The Appellant then grabbed Christie by the throat and pushed her against the wall in the hallway. While the Appellant had Christie up against the wall, the Appellant managed to punch Cindy so hard that she fell to the floor. The Appellant pursued Cindy and continued punching her. She then threw a shoe at the Appellant, to which the Appellant responded by biting her leg. Cindy then hit the Appellant on the head with a vase three times. After this altercation, Cindy was left alone in the kitchen as everyone else went to the living room; while in the kitchen, Cindy heard the decedent say "don't touch my sisters" from the living room. Cindy snuck out of the back door, located in the kitchen, to get help but did not find anyone, so she tried to go back in the home. As she tried to get back in the home, however, she saw the Appellant in the kitchen standing next to a drawer, but did not see what, if anything, he got from the drawer. Cindy continued to try to find help outside from neighbors. When she came back to the apartment, she saw the decedent on the ground outside. Shortly thereafter, she saw Kendrick's car speeding away from the apartment. ROA p. 135, line 1-p. 149, line 16 (Tr. p. 276, line 1-p. 290, line 16).

Christie testified that the Appellant entered the home and was upset that \$400.00 had been stolen from him. She told the Appellant that she wanted to talk to him, so they both entered the kitchen. She showed the Appellant the card and the Appellant pushed her up against the refrigerator and told her that he loved her. She told the Appellant that he needed to leave, and the Appellant agreed to do so. The Appellant then walked back to the living room while the decedent and Cindy came into the kitchen to ask her if anything was wrong. Christie subsequently tried to walk back to the living room, but the Appellant grabbed her and pushed her up against a wall. Cindy tried to get the Appellant off of Christie, but the Appellant punched Cindy. In response, Cindy threw her shoe at the Appellant, and the Appellant attacked Cindy. Christie next saw the Appellant in the living room in an encounter with the decedent. The decedent had taken out his pocket knife and told the Appellant not to mess with his sisters. The Appellant tried to punch the decedent but the decedent swung the knife at the Appellant, cutting him. The Appellant went back to the kitchen as Christie went upstairs.¹ Christie came back downstairs and entered the kitchen where she saw the decedent at one end of the room and the Appellant and Kendrick at the other end of the room. Christie saw the Appellant holding a pair of scissors. Christie took the decedent out of the house through the front door, but he was attacked from behind by Kendrick, knocking the decedent to the ground. As the decedent was on the ground, Kendrick kicked him multiple times. Christie went to get help, and when she returned, the Defendant and Kendrick had left. ROA p. 203, line 1-p. 223, line 24 (Tr. p. 344, line 1-p. 364, line 24).

The police recovered a pair of scissors and a pocket knife from the scene. ROA p. 405, lines 6-20 (Tr. p. 546, lines 6-20). SLED ran DNA tests on the blood found on both items, and

¹ Cindy's daughter and the Appellant's daughter were spending the night at the apartment and were in the living room asleep when the incident began. Christie testified that she took them upstairs as the altercation between the Appellant and the decedent began. ROA p. 214, line 8-p. 216, line 4 (Tr. p. 355, line 8-p. 357, line 4).

found that there were mixtures of two individuals' blood on each item. ROA p. 457, lines 1-5 (Tr. p. 598, lines 1-5). Neither the Appellant nor the decedent could be excluded from the blood found on the knife. ROA p. 457, lines 5-7 (Tr. p. 598, lines 5-7). The decedent was the major contributor to the blood found on the scissors while the Appellant's was the minor contributor. ROA p. 457, line 13-p. 458, line 2 (Tr. p. 598, line 13-p. 599, line 2). The blade of the scissors measured 3.6 inches in length and the blade of the knife measured 2.3 inches in length. ROA p. 532, lines 11-18 (Tr. p. 673, lines 11-18).

The decedent suffered ten sharp force injuries. Eight of these injuries were 1.4 inches deep or less, but two injuries—one to the decedent's chest that punctured his heart and one to the decedent's left back—were at least four inches deep. The injury to the decedent's chest was fatal. He also had a blood alcohol content of .141 percent and a marijuana metabolite in his system. ROA p. 508, line 24-p. 517, line 4; p. 521, line 22-p. 523, line 5 (Tr. p. 649, line 24-p. 658, line 4; p. 662, line 22-p. 664, line 5).

While there was no direct testimony regarding the Appellant's injuries, Christie testified that she was aware that the Appellant was taken to the hospital due to his wounds from the altercation with the decedent and that was hospitalized "for a while." ROA p. 269, lines 8-24 (Tr. p. 410, lines 8-24). During the sentencing proceeding, the Appellant explained that he had suffered three stab wounds, one of which was life threatening, as it collapsed one of his lungs. He was hospitalized for approximately three weeks as a result of his injuries. ROA p. 624, lines 17-25 (Tr. p. 910, lines 17-25).

ARGUMENT

Standard of Review

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Baccus, 67 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). “This Court is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id.

- I. **Subsequent developments in the law have undermined the basis for the rule, first set forth in State v. Huckie, 22 S.C. 298 (1885), that prohibits all defendants from making the final closing argument if one defendant introduces evidence in a joint trial such that Huckie should be modified to permit co-defendants in a joint trial to retain the right to the last argument even if another co-defendant introduces evidence at trial.**

- II. **The trial court’s ruling to prohibit the Appellant’s co-defendant from making the final closing argument to the jury if the Appellant introduced evidence at trial violated the Appellant’s constitutional right to testify at trial and the Appellant’s Sixth Amendment right to present a defense at trial.**

A. How the Issues Arose Below

At the close of the State’s case, the Appellant and his co-defendant notified the trial court that they had concerns about the effect of either defendant presenting a defense. ROA p. 551, line 9-p. 553, line 17 (Tr. p. 745, line 9-p. 747, line 17). The trial court then proceeded *ex parte* with both defendants to address their concerns. The Appellant informed the court that he intended to present a substantial defense:

Mr. Wilson: Your Honor, my Defendant wants to present evidence in this case ---

The Court: Okay.

Mr. Wilson: ---And witnesses, including testimony about his injuries and his hospitalization and all that, and the—obviously the problem for that is that once we do that, then the Co-Defendant

then loses his last argument, as well as we losing our last argument.

ROA p. 555, lines 1-8 (Tr. p. 749, lines 1-8). The trial court agreed with the Appellant that the presentation of any evidence would result in both defendants losing the right to make a final closing argument, citing State v. Crowe, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972). ROA p. 555, lines 9-25 (Tr. p. 749, lines 9-25). Kendrick's attorney then explained that if the Appellant presented any evidence, then Kendrick would testify on his own behalf, which would be damaging to the Appellant due to the fact that the State would impeach Kendrick with his prior statements that incriminated the Appellant. ROA p. 556, line 7-p. 559, line 14 (Tr. p. 750, line 7-p. 753, line 14). The trial court then permitted the State to return to the courtroom where both defendants requested that the trial court allow Kendrick the final closing argument if he did not present any evidence even if the Appellant presented evidence. ROA p. 561, line 4-p. 564, line 9 (Tr. p. 755, line 4-p. 758, line 9). The trial court denied the motion, finding that it was bound by Crowe:

[W]e're dealing with a—an established rule in the State of South Carolina that has been in existence for an extremely long period of time. I appreciate the circumstance that the Defendants and their attorneys have expressed to the Court ... but I do not find those reasons and those arguments to be sufficient to go against this longstanding and established procedure as established by our Supreme Court of the State of South Carolina. If the current Supreme Court, as its constituted, wants to overturn this rule that's been in existence for hundreds of years, they're gonna have to do that.

ROA p. 565, lines 12-23 (Tr. p. 759, lines 12-23).

The trial court then engaged in a colloquy with the Appellant regarding his decision to testify. The Appellant stated that he did not intend to present any evidence or testify. ROA p. 567, line 19-p. 568, line 14 (Tr. p. 761, line 19-p. 762, line 14). The Appellant then informed the

trial court that the “sole reason for not presenting evidence is based on the discussion we had with the Court earlier ... about the last argument and the conflict that it caused between Defense counsel.” ROA p. 568, lines 19-22 (Tr. p. 762, lines 19-22). Ultimately, neither the Appellant nor Kendrick presented any evidence, and both were permitted to have the final closing argument to the jury following the State’s closing argument, with the Appellant arguing first. The Appellant now contends that this Court should reverse the lower court’s rulings.

B. Discussion

In State v. Huckie, 22 S.C. 298 (1885), the Supreme Court held that where one co-defendant introduces any evidence in a joint trial, all co-defendants lose the right to make the final closing argument to the jury. The Appellant contends, principally, that the Huckie rule should no longer be applied in light of changes to the understanding of joint trial which have eroded the initial underpinnings of the rule. The Appellant also contends that the operation of the Huckie rule in this case deprived the Appellant of his constitutional right to testify and his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense. To properly present this argument to this Court, the Appellant believes it is necessary to first briefly review the evolution of the rules governing the order of closing arguments. Next, the Appellant will examine the Huckie rule, in particular, in light of a modern understanding of the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment and joint trial jurisprudence in general, and will discuss why the Huckie rule should be modified under the common law. The Appellant will then engage in a prejudice inquiry based solely on the proposed modifications to Huckie. Finally, the Appellant will then discuss why the Huckie rule violated his constitutional right to testify and his Sixth Amendment right to present a defense, and why a new trial is warranted based on these violations.

1. *South Carolina's History Establishing the Order of Closing Arguments in Criminal Matters*

South Carolina is one of only two states—the other being North Carolina²—that permits a defendant in a criminal case to make the final closing argument to the jury if they do not present any evidence at trial. All other states, as well as the District of Columbia and the federal courts, grant the prosecution the ability to make the final closing argument to the jury. See Nicole Velasco, Taking the “Sandwich” Off of the Menu: Should Florida Depart from Over 150 Years of its Criminal Procedure and Let Prosecutors Have the Last Word?, 29 *Nova L.Rev.* 99, 121 (2004) (footnote 199).³ South Carolina's practice regarding the order of closing argument in criminal cases derives from the common law, as no court rule establishes the procedure.⁴

South Carolina first set forth the order of closing arguments in criminal matters in State v. Brisbane, 2 S.C.L. (2 Bay) 451 (1802). In Brisbane, the Court noted that the defense had been given the opportunity to present the last argument, but decided to set forth a rule regarding the order of closing arguments in criminal cases “to settle a point of practice for the regulation of the bar in future.” The Court held that “the same rule ought to prevail in the criminal courts of judicature, which had been laid down in the court of common pleas,” *i.e.*, “[t]hat in all cases where a defendant called no witnesses, he should have the privilege of concluding to the jury.” Id. The Court found it persuasive that “each individual ought to have every advantage which the

² See Rule 10, N.C. R. Super. and Dist. Cts.; see also State v. Macon, 346 N.C. 109, 484 S.E.2d 538 (1997).

³ At the time the article was written, Georgia and Florida also followed a system similar to South Carolina's. Georgia's system was changed in 2005 through legislative amendment. See Ga. Code Ann. §17-8-71. Florida's system, which permitted the defense the final closing argument so long as the only evidence introduced was the defendant's testimony, was changed by the Supreme Court of Florida in 2007 through the amendment of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. See In re Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure-Final Arguments, 957 So.2d 1164 (Fla. 2007).

⁴ Rule 140 of the proposed South Carolina Criminal Rules would have maintained the status quo of a significant portion of the common law, omitting only the requirement that the State make a closing argument on the law prior to the defendant's closing argument where the defendant has lost the right to make the final closing argument; however, those proposed rules have never been adopted.

aggregate had, otherwise there would not be a perfect reciprocity between the state and the citizen.” Id.

In State v. Huckie, 22 S.C. 298 (1885), the Court took up, for the first time, how the rule of Brisbane would operate in a joint trial. The Court found that introduction of evidence by any co-defendant in a joint trial would trigger the rule permitting the State to give the final argument to the jury. The fundamental reasoning of this decision was that the trial was “an entirety”: the state against the defense without regard for the individuality of each defendant. See id. at 300. (“A prosecution against several jointly for the same offence is an entirety, but one proceeding, without regard to the number of persons who may be charged”). This principle was further stated when the Court directly compared the argument in favor of the co-defendant having the final argument to a case where multiple defendants want to cross-examine witnesses:

It has been held that this court cannot declare error in the refusal of the Circuit judge to permit more than one counsel for defendants to cross-examine a witness for the state, although the several defendants were represented by different counsel. State v. Sims, 16 S.C. 487. *For the same reasons* we cannot declare error in the refusal of the Circuit judge to allow the counsel of one of two defendants, the general reply in argument, the other defendant jointly indicted having examined witnesses in defence.

Id. at 301 (emphasis added).

The final development of the rule came with the Court’s decision in State v. Gellis, 158 S.C. 471, 155 S.E. 849 (1930). In Gellis, the defendant did not present any testimony, but did introduce documentary evidence during the State’s case-in-chief. 155 S.E. at 855. The Court held that the defendant’s introduction of any evidence “either by offering witnesses in his behalf, or ... by the introduction of documentary evidence without calling witnesses” resulted in the defendant’s loss of the final closing argument. Id.

Virtually every subsequent decision on the law of the order of closing arguments has dealt with some interpretation of the rules as set forth in Brisbane, Huckie, or Gellis. See generally State v. Crowe, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972) (whether or not a severance is warranted due to the operation of Huckie); State v. Mouzon, 326 S.C. 199, 485 S.E.2d 918 (1997) (whether or not a jury view is the introduction of evidence pursuant to Gellis); State v. Pinkard, 365 S.C. 541, 617 S.E.2d 397 (Ct. App. 2005) (whether or not a display of a defendant's tattoo constitutes the introduction of evidence). It does not appear that the foundational underpinnings of these decisions, and of Huckie in particular, have been examined by South Carolina's appellate courts since their issuance.

2. The Development of Confrontation Clause and Joint Trial Jurisprudence Warrants Modification of Huckie's Rule

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