ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Horry County
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212800

RECEIVED
FEB 21 2014
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

LARRY T. CHESTNUT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal From Horry County
Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212800

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

LARRY T. CHESTNUT,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

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

²Appellant refers to the current closing argument practice as "the Huckie Rule" because it was first applied to joint defendants in State v. Huckie, 22 S.C. 298 (1885). This allows Appellant to gloss over "modern" case law applying the practice.

widely accepted rule in the United States is that the party with the burden of proof has the right to open and conclude final argument before the jury.”). As Appellant acknowledges, in keeping with the traditional doctrine of allowing the party with the burden of proof to make the final closing argument, forty-eight states, the District of Columbia, and the federal courts give the prosecution the right to final closing argument in criminal cases, regardless of the number of defendants, or whether any defendant introduces evidence.

In contrast to the vast majority of jurisdictions, current South Carolina practice sets the order of closing arguments in criminal cases according to the evidence received at trial. *See State v. Brisbane*, 2 Bay 451 (S.C. 1802) (As a matter of practice, when a criminal defendant calls no witnesses, he has “the privilege of concluding to the jury.”) (emphasis added); *see also State v. Gellis*, 155 S.E. 849, 855 (1930) (“It is evident from the more recent decisions of this court that the rule is that if a defendant offers any evidence on trial of the case, the state is not deprived of its general right to the opening and concluding arguments.”); *State v. Crowe*, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379, 384 (1972) (same); *State v. Mouzon*, 321 S.C. 27, 467 S.E.2d 122, 125 (Ct. App. 1995) (same). In a joint trial of multiple defendants, if any co-defendant offers evidence, the State is entitled to the final closing argument. *See State v. Smith*, 387 S.C. 619, 693 S.E.2d 415, 418 (Ct.App. 2010), *citing Crowe*. Under current South Carolina practice, a defendant never loses the right to make a closing argument, but may lose the right to make the final closing argument if he, or any co-defendant in a joint trial, introduces evidence.

B. Viability of South Carolina's Current Practice

Appellant argues South Carolina's long-standing practice should be "modified" for joint trials in light of "modern" Confrontation Clause and joint trial jurisprudence. As support for his contention, Appellant engages in an exceptionally convoluted and tortured analysis of the practice's origins, while glossing over more recent cases affirming it.

As recognized above, totally denying a criminal defendant the opportunity for closing argument constitutes a denial of the defendant's basic right to make his defense. Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853, 858-859 (1975); *see also* Pinkard, 617 S.E.2d at 398. While the right to make a closing argument cannot be circumvented, the order of argument is vastly different, particularly since argument is **not** evidence. *See, e.g., Ex parte Morris*, 367 S.C. 56, 624 S.E.2d 649, 653 (2006), *quoting* S.C. Dept. of Transp. v. Thompson, 357 S.C. 101, 590 S.E.2d 511, 513 (Ct.App.2003) ("[a]rguments made by counsel are not evidence"); Sosebee v. Leeke, 293 S.C. 531, 362 S.E.2d 22, 24 (1987) ("the solicitor's closing argument is not evidence"). There is no constitutional **right** to a certain order or scope of argument.

The order of closing arguments is a matter of state procedural rule or practice rather than substantive law. Huckie, 22 S.C. at 299 (alleged error in denying defendant final closing argument was "not a matter of error as to express law, but of practice"). The United States Supreme Court has consistently held the States are free to shape their own rules of procedure. *See, e.g., United States v. Scheffer*, 523 U.S. 303, 316 (1998), *quoting* Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 302 (1973) ("we thus stressed that the

ruling did not ‘signal any diminution in the respect traditionally accorded to the States in the establishment and implementation of their own criminal trial rules and procedures.’”).

Appellant’s reliance on the viability of the holding in State v. Sims, 16 S.C. 486 (1882), as a basis for modifying the current practice is misplaced, and he incorrectly states the basis for the Huckie court’s reference to it. In Sims, the trial court limited cross-examination of the State’s witnesses to one defense counsel, even though there were two defendants represented by different counsel. In affirming the trial court’s ruling, the Supreme Court referenced the limited scope of appellate review of a trial court’s discretionary determinations regarding the conduct of a trial, and held the appellate court had no power to interfere in the absence of a legal right that was infringed or refused. *Id.* at 495.³

In Huckie, the trial court denied a defendant’s motion for final closing argument when the defendant did not introduce any evidence, but his co-defendant did. In affirming, the Supreme Court, citing Sims, held “for the same reasons” it could not declare error in the trial court’s discretionary ruling regarding the right to final closing argument in a trial involving multiple defendants. 22 S.C. at 301. In short, the ruling at issue was a discretionary ruling by the trial court regarding the conduct of trial, and under the limited scope of appellate review, the appellate court had no power to interfere absent

³ In light of subsequent case law, only allowing one defense counsel to make a closing argument would constitute infringement of a co-defendant’s right to make a closing argument. As discussed below, Appellant was not denied the right to make a closing argument.

infringement of a legal right. As discussed above, there is no legal right to a particular order of closing arguments, even under “modern” jurisprudence.

Appellant does not contend he was denied the right to cross-examine witnesses, or ever faced with the possibility of losing his right to make a closing argument, but asserts South Carolina’s well-established practice regarding the order of closing arguments should be radically altered for trials involving multiple defendants. While generally stating “modern” joint trial jurisprudence mandates changing the current practice, he cites no specific constitutional or statutory basis for this assertion. *See State v. Porter*, 389 S.C. 27, 35, 698 S.E.2d 237, 241 (Ct. App. 2010) (requiring an appellant to cite authority in "specific support of his assertion"). Indeed, as noted above, his assertion is directly contrary to the accepted, or mandated, practice in every United States jurisdiction except South Carolina and North Carolina.⁴

In the course of his “modern” jurisprudence argument, Appellant conveniently glosses over the fact the joint trial/closing argument practice was upheld by our appellate courts as recently as 2010. In *Smith*, the Court of Appeals reiterated the practice regarding the order of closing arguments when joint defendants are tried together, and held the possibility of losing the right to final closing argument was not sufficient to require separate trials. 693 S.E.2d at 418, *citing Crowe*. If the potential loss of final

⁴Ironically, Appellant asks the Court to adopt Florida’s former practice, which Florida changed to the majority rule in 2007. *See In Re: Amendments to the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure - Final Arguments*, 957 So.2d 1164 (2007).

closing argument is not a sufficient infringement of a constitutionally protected right as to warrant severance, the order of closing argument is not such a fundamental right as to require revision of the current practice.

Appellant contends the current practice improperly treats a joint trial as an “entirety” rather than individual trials for each defendant, and as support, he cites the well-established jury instruction, properly given in this case, that the jury must “separately and individually” consider the evidence and law concerning each defendant. The fact that a jury must determine the guilt or innocence of joint defendants individually does not constitute a legitimate basis for changing the current practice. The jury’s substantive consideration of the evidence and the law as they relate to each individual defendant does not transform the trial from an “entirety” to multiple trials that just happen to be taking place at the same time.

Appellant’s scenario of how closing arguments would proceed under the practice he proposes - Appellant, State, Co-Defendant - has a glaring omission. If Appellant presented evidence, the State would have the right to **open and close** final arguments as to him. Under his proposal, however, the State loses its general right to the first argument if any defendant in a joint trial does not introduce evidence.

The practical result of Appellant’s proposal would be a nightmare for the orderly administration of a trial, particularly in cases with many defendants. As to any defendant who introduced evidence, the State would have the right to open and close final arguments, but would not have the right to final argument as to any defendant who did

not introduce evidence.

By way of example, Defendants 1 & 3 introduce evidence in a case with five defendants. As to those defendants, the State has the right to open and close final arguments - State, Defendant 1, State & State, Defendant 3, State. Defendants 2, 4 & 5 did not present evidence, and they have the right to the final argument - State, Defendant 2, Defendant 4, Defendant 5. Even if the State's open argument as to Defendant 1 and Defendant 3 is combined, the end result is still multiple layers of closing arguments.

The circumstances of this case also reveal the potential abuse of Appellant's proposal. While Appellant contends his "sole" motivation for not presenting evidence in his defense was protecting Co-Defendant's right to the final closing argument, the record reveals Appellant's motive was not so pure. The reality is Appellant absolutely had to keep Co-Defendant from testifying.

Co-Defendant's counsel made it clear Co-Defendant would testify on his own behalf if Appellant put up any evidence. Appellant knew if Co-Defendant testified, the May 22, 2006, statement that was very damaging to Appellant would be a subject for cross-examination, which would seriously undermine Appellant's self-defense claim. (Court's Exhibit 3; R., pp. 627). Strategically, keeping Co-Defendant off the witness stand was **much** more important to Appellant than maintaining Co-Defendant's ability to make the final closing argument. If the circuit court allowed Appellant to put up evidence without impact on the order of closing arguments, in the course of presenting his evidence, Appellant could put up virtually any evidence Co-Defendant wanted

introduced, and Co-Defendant would then still be able to make the final closing argument, even as to issues involving Appellant.

The purpose of a trial is to determine the truth of a matter. State v. Furtick, 147 S.C. 82, 144 S.E. 839 (1928). Joint defendants should not be able to circumvent that purpose by undertaking a strategy specifically designed to keep relevant evidence from the fact-finder while maintaining the “privilege” to make final closing argument. The current practice requires each defendant to assess his own individual interests, and make trial decisions accordingly. Joint defendants can certainly agree on a joint strategy, but they must then bear the consequences of the agreed upon strategy, such as losing final closing argument.

The possibility of a conflict regarding the introduction of evidence and the impact on closing arguments could not have been a complete surprise to Appellant and Co-Defendant. Significantly, both knew the State’s evidence well before trial commenced, and neither moved for severance. Appellant knew he wanted to present evidence, and Co-Defendant knew the State’s evidence against him was not as strong as the evidence against Appellant. Thus, there was always a possibility Co-Defendant may not need, or want, to present any evidence at trial.

Appellant’s assertions regarding the underlying premise of Brisbane are inaccurate, and his reliance on State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009), as support for changing South Carolina’s long-standing practice is misplaced. Rather than emphasizing “the individuality of the defendant” as the primary reason for adopting the

closing argument practice, the Brisbane court considered the disparity between the existing closing argument practices in **civil** and **criminal** courts. At that time, a civil defendant was entitled to final closing argument if he put up no evidence, and the court found no valid basis for civil litigants having an advantage not available to criminal defendants, particularly since the State is the opposing party in criminal cases. Thus, the “individual” the court focused on was the individual civil and criminal litigants, not the individual parties in a particular case.

Significantly, the prevailing practice in civil cases relied on in Brisbane, and cited in Huckie, gave the plaintiff, who had the burden of proof, the right to open and close final arguments, unless the defendant called no witnesses. The practice had been in effect since 1796, and was incorporated in the Circuit Court Rules. Huckie, 22 S.C. at 299. “Modern” jurisprudence continues the practice in the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, with one modification. Rule 43(j), SCRPC, gives a civil plaintiff the right to open and close final arguments, **unless** a party **assumes the burden of proof** by admitting the adverse party’s claim. Thus, South Carolina’s current civil rules follow the general rule giving the party bearing the burden of proof the right to open and close final arguments, and the rule only changes when a defendant assumes the burden of proof via an admission of the plaintiff’s claim.

Similarly, South Carolina’s appellate court procedures follow the burden of proof model. The appellant bears the burden of showing error in the lower court, and at the briefing and oral argument stages of the appellate process, the appellant has the right to

open and close the argument.

“Modern” jurisprudence provides ample support for the constitutionality of South Carolina’s current practice, and the Court need look no further than the federal system. In 1974, the United States Supreme Court promulgated Rule 29.1, Closing Argument, of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, which gives the government the right to open and close final arguments in criminal trials, and was intended to create a uniform federal practice. Fed. R. Crim. P. 29.1 Advisory Committee Notes. It defies reason to argue a rule promulgated by the highest court in the nation, which is less advantageous to criminal defendants than South Carolina’s current practice, leads to the conclusion that South Carolina’s practice violates a criminal defendant’s constitutional rights.

If the current practice is changed at all, the State submits it should be modified to join the vast majority of jurisdictions that provide the prosecution has the first and last closing argument. Such a modification would provide clarity and uniformity, and defendants would no longer have to struggle with the strategic decisions Appellant faced. *See Taking the “Sandwich” Off of the Menu*, 29 Nova L.Rev. at 116 (“Without the pressure weighing upon their shoulders to reserve the rebuttal argument at closing, defense attorneys can devote true zeal to the representation of their clients by presenting as much defensive evidence as may be appropriate for the particular case.”)

In this case, the circuit court had the right to rely on well-established precedent and long-standing practice, which never deprives any criminal defendant, including Appellant, of the opportunity to present evidence and make a closing argument. There

was no error, and Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.⁵

⁵ Appellant also argues the purported error regarding closing arguments was not harmless because it deprived him of his right to testify and present a defense. (See Issue II below). The State submits there was no error, and therefore, no harmless error analysis is necessary. In any event, the overwhelming evidence supports the jury's voluntary manslaughter conviction. Appellant's self-defense claim was unsustainable in light of the undisputed evidence he was at fault in bringing on the difficulty, or at a minimum, he and Victim were engaged in mutual combat.

II. Denial of Appellant's motion to allow Co-Defendant the final argument even if Appellant presented evidence did not preclude Appellant from testifying or otherwise presenting a defense.

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